FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 1991

CASE NO.: /

78922 CLERK, SURREME COURT

FLORIDA BAR NO. 174589

PALM BEACH SAVINGS & LOAN, F.S.A., a federal savings association,

Petitioner,

v.

DEBORAH FISHBEIN,

Respondent.

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER
PALM BEACH SAVINGS & LOAN ASSOCIATION, F.S.A.

NEIL P. LINDEN, ESQUIRE
DAVID B. HABER, ESQUIRE
ROLLNICK, ROSEN & LINDEN, P.A.
133 SEVILLA
CORAL GABLES, FLORIDA 33134
TEL: (305) 444-7800

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

On October 15, 1984, Lawrence Fishbein ("Mr. Fishbein") acquired a mansion on Palm Beach Island (the "Subject Property") taking title in his sole name. At the time, he was married to DEBORAH FISHBEIN ("Mrs. Fishbein"). In March, 1985, Mr. Fishbein executed a Quit Claim Deed to himself and Mrs. Fishbein, as tenants by the entireties. This deed was not recorded. Thereafter, Mr. & Mrs. Fishbein moved into the Palm Beach home. It was Mrs. Fishbein's homestead from October, 1985 to August, 1988.

In March, 1988, Mr. Fishbein borrowed \$1.2 million from PALM BEACH SAVINGS & LOAN ASSOCIATION, F.S.A. ("PALM BEACH SAVINGS"), and secured the debt with a Mortgage on the Subject Property. At that time, Mr. and Mrs. Fishbein were involved in Dissolution of Marriage proceedings. Mr. Fishbein forged her signature on the loan commitment letter and Mortgage. 1

\$933,905.42 was used to pay off three existing mortgages' and the real estate taxes on the Subject Property. The remainder (approximately \$270,000) was utilized by Mr. Fishbein to alleviate an immediate cash problem.

¹While her signature was forged, it was witnessed and notarized (see Appendix 1).

²The three mortgages on the Subject Property were as follows: a first mortgage which was assumed by Mr. Fishbein when he acquired the house; a second mortgage which was a purchase money mortgage given by Mr. Fishbein at the time of acquisition of the house; and a third mortgage which was executed by both Mr. Fishbein and Mrs. Fishbein. In fact, the third mortgage to Florida National Bank (which paid for improvements to the house) specifically acknowledged the Liens of the prior mortgages as being valid first and second mortgage liens, respectively, on the house.

In August, 1988, the Fishbeins' marriage was dissolved after into Settlement they entered а Property Agreement (the "Agreement"), which provided that M_{I} , Fishbein, within one year, would buy his wife a \$275,000 home in **Boca** Raton and would pay her \$225,000. As security for his obligations under the Agreement, Mr. Fishbein gave his wife a Quit Claim Deed to the Subject Property.3 In return, Mrs. Fishbein gave up her interest in the house and moved to Boca Raton where she was renting a house with an option Thereafter, Mr. Fishbein neither purchased the Boca to purchase. Raton house nor paid her \$225,000. Mrs. Fishbein then moved back to the Subject Property in approximately December, 1988.

Mr. Fishbein defaulted on the loan with PALM BEACH SAVINGS and, consequently, PALM BEACH SAVINGS filed its mortgage foreclosure action. In defense, Mrs. Fishbein asserted that her signature was forged to the PALM BEACH SAVINGS' mortgage without her knowledge or consent. PALM BEACH SAVINGS then filed an Amended Complaint asserting an additional claim for the imposition of an equitable lien on the Subject Property in the event the trial court deemed the Mortgage to be void. Mrs. Fishbein and PALM BEACH SAVINGS entered into a Pre-trial Stipulation acknowledging that:

(1) at the time of the execution of the PALM BEACH SAVINGS' Mortgage, Mrs. Fishbein had no record ownership interest in the Subject Property; and (2) her only interest in the house at the time PALM BEACH SAVINGS made the loan was a homestead interest.

 $^{^3}$ This deed to himself and his wife, was to be held by her Dissolution attorney and was to be recorded only in the event Mr. Fishbein failed to meet his obligations under the Agreement.

The trial court entered a Final Judgment (Appendix No. 1). It found (1) during the Dissolution settlement negotiations, Mr. Fishbein misrepresented to Mrs, Fishbein that the house "...was free and clear of any liens except one being asserted by his mother and sister;" and (2) that Mr. Fishbein forged his wife's signature on the Mortgage to PALM BEACH SAVINGS. The trial court determined that the fraud of Mr, Fishbein vitiated any intent on Mrs. Fishbein's part to abandon the homestead; and it also prevented title, unencumbered by the homestead, from vesting in Mr. Fishbein as of the date of the Dissolution decree. Accordingly, the trial court held that the PALM BEACH SAVINGS' Mortgage did not attach to the Subject Property upon entry of the Dissolution decree and Mrs. Fishbein's leaving the marital residence.

The trial court then went on to address PALM BEACH SAVINGS' claim for an equitable lien to the extent that its loan proceeds were used to satisfy pre-existing mortgages and tax liens on the Subject Property:

[PALM BEACH SAVINGS] has clearly shown fraud on the part of Mr. Fishbein in obtaining a loan although no fraud by Mrs. Fishbein has been shown...I find that the Plaintiff should have an equitable lien on the property to the extent that its loan proceeds were used to pay the pre-existing mortgages which had attached [to] the homestead and the unpaid taxes,,,,Additionally, the signature which they relied upon supported by the attestation of two witnesses and the seal of a notary. Lastly, the homestead would have been liable for these pre-existing mortgages and taxes if the PALM BEACH SAVINGS' loan had not been procured. Thus. if an equitable lien attaches, Mrs. Fishbein stands in no worse position than she stood in prior to the fraudulent mortgage,

[Emphasis added]

The **trial** court enforced an equitable lien in favor of **PALM**BEACH SAVINGS in the amount of \$1,182,298.09.4

Mrs. Fishbein appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal asserting that the equitable lien could not be imposed against her homestead. PALM BEACH SAVINGS cross-appealed the failure to impose the legal mortgage. The Fourth District reversed the Final Judgment, holding that PALM BEACH SAVINGS had not established (as it perceived was mandatory) fraud or other egregious conduct on Mrs. Fishbein's part. The Fourth District also concluded that the unjust result and/or windfall to Mrs. Fishbein was of no consequence since the homestead protection of the Florida Constitution is not based on principles of equity. See the Fourth District's Opinion (Appendix No. 2).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District's decision conflicts with prior Florida Supreme Court precedent cited in the dissenting opinion of Judge Stone as well as with the Third District's opinion in <u>Clutter</u> Construction Corp. v. Clutter, 173 So.2d 761 (Fla. 3d DCA 1965). It also used that constitutional homestead protection as a sword to achieve an unconscionable result on creditors rather than as a shield for family preservation. The cases cited in the dissent expressly reflect that equitable liens may be enforced against homestead to prevent the homestead from being used as an instrument

This amount consists of the payments to satisfy the three mortgages and the 1986-1988 real estate taxes, plus interest, all of which were valid, pre-existing encumbrances upon Mrs. Fishbein's homestead.

of fraud upon, or detriment to creditors. Those cases also hold that homestead may be used solely as a shield, but not to create a windfall and/or unjust enrichment to the party asserting the homestead protection. The unjust result and express windfall of approximately one million dollars to Mrs. Fishbein by virtue of the Fourth District's opinion is unwarranted, is in conflict with previous Florida Supreme Court precedent and is erroneously based upon the decisions of Isaacson v. Isaacson, 504 So.2d 1309 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) and Public Health Trust of Dade County v. Lopez, 531 So.2d 946 (Fla. 1968). This Court has discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii) and/or (iv).

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

The Fourth District's opinion concludes that "the only basis upon which a court may impose an equitable lien [on homestead property] is where there is fraud or egregious conduct by the party claiming the homestead exemption." This holding expressly conflicts with prior decisions of this Court which allow the imposition of an equitable lien where there is fraud which, while not committed by the party claiming the homestead exemption, would otherwise create an unjust result or windfall to that party. Sonneman v. Tuszvnski, 139 Fla. 824, 191 So. 18 (Fla. 1939); LaMar v. Lechlider, 135 Fla. 703, 185 So. 833 (Fla. 1939); and Jones v. Carpenter, 90 Fla. 407, 106 So. 127 (Fla. 1925).

The Fourth District relies upon <u>Isaacson</u> for the proposition that the fraud must be on the part of the beneficiary of the homestead protection. ⁵ <u>Isaacson</u> is distinguishable on its facts. ⁶

The Fourth District's strict constructionist view of Article X, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution and of the issue of when equitable liens are enforced against homestead property conflicts with the cases cited by the dissent, all of which are equitable lien cases fashioned by this Court. That precedent was not overruled by <u>Lopez</u> and remains the law of Florida on the application of equitable liens to homestead property. Only a departure by the Fourth District from that long-standing precedent allows this unjust result. Accordingly, this Court has discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

⁵The cases cited by *Isaacson*, specifically *Clutter Construction Corp. v. Clutter*, 173 So.2d 761, 762 (Fla. 3d DCA 1965); *Bessemer v. Gersten*, 381 So.2d 1344, 1347 n.l (Fla. 1980) and *Kitzinger v. Gulf Power Co.*, 432 So.2d 188, 195 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), do not stand for this proposition. None of these cases require that the fraud be on the part of the beneficiary of the constitutional protection; rather, these cases stand for the proposition that the plaintiff is required to prove fraud or other "reprehensible conduct."

Furthermore, the Fourth District's opinion states that Clutter provides no facts and does not discuss the law in detail. Interestingly, while Clutter is admittedly a short opinion without any express facts, the Clutter court relied upon Jones v. Carpenter and LaMar v. Lechlider, two of the three cases cited in Judge Stone's dissent.

⁶Isaacson involved a former wife seeking recovery of child support and/or alimony arrearages. The Isaacson court declined to hold that because a husband possesses qualified homestead real property which he refused to alienate to meet support obligations that he has acted "reprehensibly" as a matter of law so as to overcame the constitutional protection against the forced sale of such property. In contrast, the instant case involves homestead property which was expressly alienated prior to it becoming homestead property (to the extent of the first and second mortgages) and which was expressly subject to the consensual third mortgage and statutory tax liens.

Furthermore, the fraud of Lawrence Fishbein, a co-beneficiary of the homestead protection, should not and cannot inure to the benefit of or confer a windfall upon Mrs. Fishbein. While she should not be penalized for Mr. Fishbein's fraud, nor should she be entitled to cash in on a one million dollar windfall.

Jones v. Carpenter supports the proposition that an equitable lien exists against one's homestead for money of another used in the improvement of that property. Jones also holds that a lien may be enforced against a homestead, even though it is not, in specific terms, included in the constitutional provision. 106 So. at 130. Jones reflects this Court's historical intention that the homestead protection be utilized as a shield, but not as a sword. The Jones court balanced the organic and statutory provisions relating to homestead exemptions (and their liberal application in the interest of the family) with the fact that these exemptions should not be applied so as to make them an instrument of fraud or imposition upon creditors.

The Fourth District also misperceived this Court's decision in Public Health Trust of Dade County v. Lopez, 531 So.2d 946 (Fla. 1988). The Fourth District cites Lopez for the proposition that the constitutional homestead protection is immune from and cannot take into account equitable principles. This is a rigid misapplication of the law in Florida and an inappropriate extension of the dicta in Lopez. Lopez dealt with a statutory hospital lien and not with an equitable lien granted to the extent of prior, proper alienations of homestead; i.e.—to the extent that the prior valid mortgages and tax liens were paid off. Furthermore, the

⁷Lopez does not deal with prior consensual liens and/or liens which would, in effect, be equitably subrogated to the prior consensual liens. Rather, Lopez deals solely with statutory hospital liens which were attempted to be enforced against a decedent's homeatead. The sole issue in Lopez was the interpretation of $Article\ X$, $section\ 4(b)$ of the Florida Constitution and whether, in extending the homestead exemption to the surviving spouse or heirs of the owner, it was to be strictly construed to apply only to minor or dependent heirs. Lopez is inapplicable to the facts of the instant case.

Fourth District's reliance on the dicta in <u>Lopez</u> relating to "equity" is a misperception of the law. Therefore, this Court also has discretionary jurisdiction under Fla, R, App, P, 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii) in that the Fourth District's opinion construes the homestead exemption under Article X, Section 4(b), <u>Fla, Const.</u>, and the application and enforcement of an equitable lien to homestead property.

The Fourth District has clearly gone beyond the search for substantial competent record evidence to support the trial court's findings and conclusions; it has instead entertained a tacit <u>de novo</u> review of that evidence placed before the trial court.* The result of the Fourth District's reversal of the trial court is to award the lottery jackpot to Mrs. Fishbein by wiping out almost \$1 million of valid debt. Because her husband committed fraud, Mrs. Fishbein gets the lottery's first prize—and **she** didn't **even** buy a ticket.

Finally, the Fourth District's opinion creates a greater exemption for Mrs. Fishbein than is provided for under the constitutionally-created homestead exemption. The Fourth District held:

To interpret <u>Clutter</u> as only requiring proof of fraud on someone's part rather than on the part of the person claiming homestead protection is to defeat the purpose of homestead protection. To allow one party's fraud to affect another party's homestead

⁸The trial court expressly found that *Mrs.* Fishbein stood *in no worse position* than she stood in prior to the fraudulent mortgage, as the homestead would have been liable for the pre-exieting mortgages and taxes even if the PALM BEACH SAVINGS' loan had not been procured.

interest is exactly the same as allowing one party's debts to encumber homestead property. In this case, applying the rule in the manner that the trial court did resulted in depriving Mrs. Fishbein of the homestead exemption provided to her by the Florida Constitution.

Since Mrs. Fishbein's homestead was previously alienated and encumbered exactly to the extent of the equitable lien, the trial court's Final Judgment resulted in Mrs. Fishbein having the same homestead exemption granted by the Constitution as she had prior to the forged mortgage. However, the Fourth District creates an absolute windfall of \$1 million and elevates her exemption to a greater level than that allowed by the Constitution. It is incongruous that this unconscionable result is being done in the name of family preservation and homestead protection.

CONCLUSION

The Fourth Pistrict's opinion wiped out the equitable lien in the name of homestead—a homestead previously burdened with valid liens in that exact amount; thus, Mrs. Fishbein will live in a Palm Beach mansion free and clear of all pre-existing mortgages and tax liens because equity has nothing to do with homestead!

Furthermore, the Fourth District's opinion, holding that the "only basis" upon which an equitable lien can be imposed against homestead is when there is fraud or egregious conduct by the party claiming the homestead protection, has broad and long-ranging

 $^{^9}$ Had the forgery been discovered during the process and before the loan was funded, then the prior mortgagee and tax liens would have remained valid encumbrances to Mrs. Fishbein's homestead. It takes arbitrary extensions of dicta to fashion a result that allows the liens to be satisfied with no equitable considerations to the party which provided the funds and was not a part of the fraud.

implications. Courts of equity can no longer be such when equitable liens and homestead collide. Equitable liens have become, by the Fourth District's broad pen strokes, a misnomer. Equitable liens will neither do equity nor be liens; instead, they will be relegated to that area of the law given less consideration than the mythical peppercorn. Finally, the Fourth District's opinion conflicts with the prior decisions of this Court as well as the Third District allowing equitable liens on homestead so as to prevent the homestead exemption from being used as a sword to create injustice. Based upon the foregoing reasons and citations of authority, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court grant its Petition and exercise its discretionary review under Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii) and/or (iv).

WE HEREBY CERTIFY that a true correct copy of the foregoing was served by U.S. Mail this day of November, 1991 upon Allan L. Hoffman, Esq., Attorney for DEBORAH FISHBEIN, 1610 Southern Boulevard, West Palm Beach, Florida 33406.