|                |              |          | $FILED_{\text{SID J. WHITE}}D$               |
|----------------|--------------|----------|--|
| IN THE SUPREME | COURT OF THE | STATE OF | NOV 22 1991<br>FLOREDAK, SUPREME COURT<br>By |

PALM BEACH SAVINGS & LOAN F.S.A., A Federal Savings Association,

Petitioner,

vs .

DEBORAH FISHBEIN,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 78,922

DCA-4 90-1937

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Allan L. Hoffman Attorney for Respondent Fla. Bar No. 131739 1610 Southern Blvd. W. Palm Beach, Florida 33406 407-478-7066

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the appellant in the trial court. She will be referred to as Ms, Fishbein, or as respondent, in this brief. The petitioner will be referred to as petitioner or as the bank.

Attached hereto is a conformed **copy** of the decision of the District Court of Appeal, which sets forth the **facts** upon which the decision was based and the authority in support of the decision below. It will be referred to as the decision below, and referred to by appropriate page number therein.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The respondent was the defendant in the circuit court of Palm Beach County in a mortgage foreclosure action initiated by the petitioner, Palm Beach Savings and Loan Association. The trial judge found as facts in the final judgment that the respondent, Ms. Fishbein, was the spouse entitled to homestead protection of the marital home, that she had not taken any part in the unilateral execution of a mortgage of the homestead **property** by her husband, and that her husband had forged her name on the mortgage. The trial court ruled that the mortgage **was** invalid,

However, the trial court awarded an equitable judgment in favor of the bank despite the court's finding of fact that the bank had not exercised reasonable care in the execution

of the loan.

The respondent, Ms. Fishbein, appealed to the district court which found that the mortgage was invalid (as had the trial judge) based on established principles of homestead law under Article X, Section 4, of the Florida Constitution and the bank, having failed to show fraudulent conduct on the part of Ms. Fishbein, was not entitled to an equitable judgment (overruling the trial judge). The petitioner moved for rehearing, rehearing en banc, and for certification of issues of law to this Court, all of which were denied in the district court. The petitioners then filed notice seeking to invoke jurisdiction in this Court. Respondent files this brief on jurisdiction asserting that jurisdiction does not lie to review the decision because it is neither in express or direct conflict with any other decision on the same issue of law and that it likewise did not construe a provision of the Florida Constitution.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent accepts the statement of facts contained in petitioner's brief to the extent that they are directly based on the decision below. Respondent rejects **any** assertions of fact contained in its brief that are outside the decision below as being irrelevant to the issue of whether jurisdiction exists and also as being incomplete or misleading.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The respondent has shown herein that the decision below applies established principles of law to determine the controversy before it. The decision is not in conflict, either express **ox** direct, with any other appellate decision on the same point of law. The Court lacks jurisdiction because application of the facts as found by the circuit court to the established law is not a basis to invoke jurisdiction in this Court.

The alternative basis claimed by petitioner for jurisdiction is that the decision construes a provision of the Florida Constitution. However, it is shown by the cases that the application of established principles of law to the set of facts before the court is not a construction of the constitution. Mere application of a previously interpreted and applied constitutional provision does not vest jurisdiction in this Court. Otherwise, every case which indirectly concerned, or applied a rule emanating in the constitution would be ultimately heard in this Court. Jurisdiction under this basis is reserved for cases which define, or explain or initially apply a new rule interpreting a constitutional provision. Petitioner has not asserted that this case involves such issue, and the respondent submits that jurisdiction does not exist and the petition for review should be denied.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

WHETHER THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DECISION BELOW THAT APPLIES ESTABLISHED PRINCIPLES OF LAW TO THE ENFORCEMENT OF HOMESTEAD PROTECTION WHEN A MORTGAGE HAS NOT BEEN EXECUTED AS REQUIRED AND WHEN THE DECISION BELOW APPLIES, BUT DOES NOT CONSTRUE, A PROVISION OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

The Court lacks jurisdiction to review the decision below because it applies established principles of law to uphold the right of a spouse to homestead property against alienation by a single unilateral act of the husband. The decision below followed the decisions in <u>Public Health Trust</u> of Dade County v. Lopez, 531 So.2d **946** (Fla. 1988), and Isaacson v. Isaacson, **504** So.2d 1309 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), to conclude that a unilaterally executed mortgage failed to encumber homestead property against the valid homestead claim of the spouse when the spouse claiming the benefit of the homestead protection **was** not guilty of any fraud or egregious conduct.

The court also ruled that <u>if</u> it were called upon to consider the issue, it "would not hesitate to conclude that as between the Bank and Mrs. Fishbein, the Bank, the party who was best able to avert the loss and who was least innocent, should bear the loss caused by Mr. Fishbein." (Opinion below, **p.7,n3**).

The Court lacks jurisdiction because there has been no

showing of direct or express conflict with the established law in Florida that an encumbrance unilaterally executed by one spouse does not serve to create a valid basis for judgment against homestead property unless the spouse claiming benefit of the homestead protection has engaged in some fraud or egregious conduct. Petitioner had relied upon several **cases** cited in the dissenting opinion, however, those cases can neither form the basis for conflict jurisdiction nor are they in conflict with the decision under the standard enunciated in <u>Reaves v. State</u>, **485** So.2d 829 (Fla. 1986), where the Court stated, at 830, fn **3**:

"This case illustrates a common error made in preparing jurisdictional briefs based on alleged decisional conflict. The only facts relevant to our decision to accept or reject **such petitions** are those facts contained within the four corners of the decisions allegedly in conflict. As we explain in the text above, we are not permitted to base our conflict jurisdiction on a review of the record or on facts recited only in dissenting opinions. Thus, it is pointless and misleading to include a comprehensive recitation of facts not appearing in the decision below, with citations to the record, as petitioner provided here."

The Court further said in <u>Reaves</u>, <u>id</u>., at 830:

"Conflict between decisions must be express and direct, i.e., it must appear within the **four** corners of the majority decision. Neither a dissenting opinion nor the record itself can be used to establish jurisdiction. See <u>Jenkins v.</u> <u>State</u>, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980), where we examined at length the effect of the 1980 constitutional amendment on our conflict jurisdiction."



## In Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980), at

## 1359, that:

The dictionary definitions of the term "express" include: "to represent in words"; "to give expression to." "Expressly" is defined: "in an express manner." Webster's Third New International Dictionary, (1961 ed. unabr.). The single word "affirmed" comports with none of these definitions. Furthermore, the language and expressions found in a dissenting or concurring opinion cannot support jurisdiction under section 3(b)(3) because they are not the decision of the district court of appeal.

Nor are any of the cases cited to by the signal "cf." in the dissent in any way in conflict with the decision in this In each of those cases there was action on the part of case. the person claiming homestead protection to either establish a valid lien, or egregious conduct on the part of the person claiming homestead protection. Those cases are exactly in accord with the decision below and the authorities relied upon in the decision. The petitioner has cited no case involving dispossession of an innocent spouse due to the unilateral and fraudulent execution of an invalid mortgage by the other spouse where there was no actual physical improvement to the property. The cases relied upon for jurisdiction fail to show that jurisdiction vests here because they are not factually on all fours nor are they even remotely similar in the essential facts at issue.

The cases cited by Respondent are plainly

distinguishable. In each of them, a beneficiary of the homestead had either knowingly accepted work and improvements to the property or the beneficiary claiming the homestead protection has engaged in some action that created an obligation on which an equitable lien was based to defeat that person's homestead right. Sonneman v. Tuszynski, 139 Fla. 24, 191 So. 18 (1939) (claimant provided labor and helped acquire and improve property with knowledge and approval of homesteader to acquire equitable interest in property); LaMar V. Lechlider, 135 Fla. 703, 185 So. 833 (1939) (both spouses expressed intent to create right of title in claimants in return for improvements); and <u>Jones  $y_{,}$ </u> Carpenter, 90 Fla. 407, 106 so. **127** (1925) (homesteader, no spouse involved, had lien imposed for use of funds to make improvements to property), These cases nowhere permit imposition of an equitable lien due to an invalid mortgage loan of one spouse to dispossess homestead rights of surviving spouse and children entitled to protection of homestead rights.

As far petitioner's second basis for asserting jurisdiction, that the decision below construes a provision of the Florida Constitution, said jurisdictional basis is groundless because the decision below did not construe a provision of the constitution, it simply applied a clear cut

established construction of the constitutional provision. See, e.g., Armstrong v. City of Tampa, 106 So.2d 407,409 (Fla. 1958); Carmazi v. Board of County Commissioners, 104 So.2d 727 (Fla. 1958); Miami Herald Publishing Company v. Brautigam, 121 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1960), and Page v. State, 113 So.2d 557 (Fla. 1959). These cases hold that the decision sought to be reviewed on the basis on construction of a constitutional provision must attempt to explain, define and resolve doubts about it arising from its terms and language. Indirect or inherent application of a previous constitutional construction is insufficient to establish jurisdiction. Carmazi, supra. In Carmazi the lower court had determined rights of ownership of property from the taking without just compensation, and this Court ruled that application of established law did create a construction of the constitution so as to vest automatic jurisdiction in this Court under Article V, Section 4, of the Florida Constitution (1957). Application of **the** law does not suffice to establish jurisdiction on this basis.

The amendment to the Article V of the Florida Constitution in **1980**, requiring that **a** decision to be reviewed "expressly" construe a provision of the constitution narrows the jurisdictional provision, and therefore the **prior** cases are reflective of the required jurisdictional showing

and should retain their precedential value. The amendment to Article V approved in 1980 "must be viewed in light of the historical development of the decisional law extant at the time of **its** adoption and the intent of the framers and adopters." <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, **supra**, **385** So.2d at 1357. The 1980 amendment, like the creation of district courts of appeal in 1956, resulted from the "staggering caseload" in this Court, and the amendment continued the policy that in most cases the district courts of appeal were in most instances to be final appellate courts, except in clearly defined and specific circumstances. The petitioner has failed to establish any basis for exercise of jurisdiction in this **case** and the petition for review must be denied.

#### CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the decision below is neither in express or direct conflict with another case on the same question of law. The Court similarly lacks jurisdiction to review the decision as it applied **but** did not construe a provision of the Florida Constitution.

The respondent submits that the petition for review should be denied as the Court is without jurisdiction,